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BARSHAY SANDERS, PLLC 
100 Garden City Plaza, Suite 500 
Garden City, New York 11530 
Tel: (516) 203-7600 
Fax: (516) 706-5055 
Email: ConsumerRights@BarshaySanders.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Our File No.: 111880 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
 

Andrew Bruno, individually and on behalf of all others 
similarly situated, 
  

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd., 
 

Defendant. 

 

Docket No:  
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
Andrew Bruno, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated (hereinafter 

referred to as “Plaintiff”), by and through the undersigned counsel, complains, states and alleges 

against Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Defendant”), as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action seeks to recover for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq., (“FDCPA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has federal subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

and 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d).  

3. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) because a substantial part of the events 

or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this Judicial District.  

4. At all relevant times, Defendant conducted business within the State of New 

York. 
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PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Andrew  Bruno is an individual who is a citizen of the State of New York 

residing in Suffolk County, New York.  

6. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).    

7. On information and belief, Defendant Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd., is a New 

Jersey Corporation with a principal place of business in Burlington County, New Jersey. 

8. Defendant is regularly engaged, for profit, in the collection of debts allegedly 

owed by consumers.   

9. Defendant is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).  

ALLEGATIONS 

10. Defendant alleges Plaintiff owes a debt (“the debt”).   

11. The debt was primarily for personal, family or household purposes and is 

therefore a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). 

12. Sometime after the incurrence of the debt Plaintiff fell behind on payments owed.  

13. Thereafter, at an exact time known only to Defendant, the debt was assigned or 

otherwise transferred to Defendant for collection.  

14. In its efforts to collect the debt, Defendant contacted Plaintiff by letter (“the 

letter”) dated May 25, 2016. (“Exhibit 1.”)  

15. The letter is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2).  

16. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e prohibits a debt collector from using any false, deceptive, or 

misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. 

17. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) prohibits the false representation of the character, 

amount, or legal status of any debt. 

18. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) prohibits the threat to take any action that cannot legally be 

taken or that is not intended to be taken. 

19. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) prohibits the use of any false representation or deceptive 

means to attempt to collect any debt. 

20. The letter offers Plaintiff a settlement of $292.91 on his debt of $732.27. 

21. The settlement offered to Plaintiff would result in a debt discharge forgiveness of 

$439.36. 
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22. The letter sets forth certain information concerning IRS reporting requirements 

for debt forgiveness.  

23. The least sophisticated consumer would reasonably believe that Defendant 

included the IRS reporting requirements because it was relevant.  

24. The least sophisticated consumer would reasonably believe that Defendant 

included the IRS reporting requirements because the consumer’s acceptance of the settlement 

offer would have tax consequences. 

25. 26 U.S.C. § 6050P requires any applicable entity discharging (in whole or part) 

any person’s debt to make a Form 1099-C return setting forth certain information about the 

individual and the discharge, unless the discharge is for less than $600.00.   

26. Debt discharge forgiveness may not be reported as income when an exception 

applies. 

27. The settlement offered to Plaintiff could not possibly have been reportable. 

28. The settlement offered to Plaintiff could not possibly have been reportable 

because it would result in debt forgiveness of less than $600.00. 

29. The settlement offered to Plaintiff could not possibly have been reportable under 

the relevant exceptions. 

30. Defendant’s inclusion of the IRS reporting requirements implies that the 

settlement may have tax consequences. 

31. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences is false. 

32. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences is a threat 

to take action that cannot legally. 

33. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences is a threat 

that is not intended to be taken by Defendant. 

34. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences is 

misleading because it states that a certain action is possible even though Defendant has reason to 

know that the action will not happen. 

35. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences is 

misleading because it states that a certain action is possible even though Defendant has reason to 

know that there are facts that make the action unlikely.  

36. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences would 
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likely lead the least sophisticated consumer to be misled into thinking that there will be adverse 

tax consequences for accepting Defendant’s settlement offer.   

37. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences would 

likely be interpreted by the least sophisticated consumer to be a threat that any settlement will be 

reported to the IRS. 

38. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences when 

viewed from the least sophisticated consumer’s perspective would affect the consumer’s decision 

concerning whether or not to accept Defendant’s settlement offer. 

39. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences when 

viewed from the least sophisticated consumer’s perspective would lead the consumer to believe 

the consumer could get in trouble with the IRS for refusal to pay the debt.   

40. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences when 

viewed from the least sophisticated consumer’s perspective would lead the consumer to believe 

the consumer could get in trouble with the IRS for obtaining any debt forgiveness.  

41. For the foregoing reasons, letter violates 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e(2)(A), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5), and 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). 

 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

42. Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action on behalf of all 

persons similarly situated in the State of New York from whom Defendant attempted to collect a 

consumer debt using a letter including reference to 1099-C IRS reporting requirements where the 

settlement offered would result in debt forgiveness of less than $600.00.  

43. This action seeks a finding that Defendant’s conduct violates the FDCPA, and 

asks that the Court award damages as authorized by § 1692k(a)(2) of the FDCPA. 

44. Defendant regularly engages in debt collection, using the same unlawful letter 

described herein, in its attempts to collect delinquent consumer debts from other persons. 

45. The Class consists of more than 35 persons from whom Defendant attempted to 

collect delinquent consumer debts using the same unlawful letter described herein. 

46. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class. Common questions of law 

or fact raised by this class action complaint affect all members of the Class and predominate over 

any individual issues. Common relief is therefore sought on behalf of all members of the Class. 
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This class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

this controversy. 

47. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would 

create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to the individual members of 

the Class, and a risk that any adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class 

would, as a practical matter, either be dispositive of the interests of other members of the Class 

not party to the adjudication, or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their 

interests. Defendant has acted in a manner applicable to the Class as a whole such that 

declaratory relief is warranted. 

48. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the Class. 

The management of the class action proposed is not extraordinarily difficult, and the factual and 

legal issues raised by this class action complaint will not require extended contact with the 

members of the Class, because Defendant’s conduct was perpetrated on all members of the Class 

and will be established by common proof.  Moreover, Plaintiff HAS retained counsel 

experienced in actions brought under the FDCPA. 

 

JURY DEMAND 
 

49. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial of this action by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment as follows: 
 

a. Certify this action as a class action; and 
 
b. Appoint Plaintiff as Class Representatives of the Class, and her 
attorneys as Class Counsel; and 

 
c. Find that Defendant’s actions violate the FDCPA; and 

 
d. Grant damages against Defendant pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 
and 

 
e. Grant Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 
and 

 
f. Grant Plaintiff’s costs; together with 
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g. Such other relief that the Court determines is just and proper. 
 

DATED: March 9, 2017 

BARSHAY SANDERS, PLLC 
 
By: _/s/ Craig B. Sanders ____________ 
Craig B. Sanders, Esq. 
100 Garden City Plaza, Suite 500 
Garden City, New York 11530  
Tel: (516) 203-7600 
Fax: (516) 706-5055 
csanders@barshaysanders.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Our File No.: 111880 
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Office Hours: M-Th: 8am-9pm, Fri: 8am-6pm

PO Box 5790 Sat: 8am-12pmHauppauge, NY 11788-0164

RETURN SERVICE REQUESTED

May 25, 2016
Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd.
Mail Stop: 147
1002 Justison Street

137918787 Wilmington, DE 19801-5148

ANDREW BRUNOJR
191 S Allegheny Ave
Lindenhurst NY 11757-5024

Reference .7034
Balance: $732.27

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE WITH YOUR PAYMENT***

Re: Client: Merrick Bank Corporation
Client Acct
Reference 7034
Balance: $732.27

Dear ANDREW BRUNOJR:

We had hoped that you would resolve your financial obligation with Merrick Bank Corporation prior to initiating further collection
activity to recover the amount owed to them. Apparently that is not the case.

In an effort to reach a mutually acceptable remedy to this matter, our client has agreed to offer you the opportunity to settle this
indebtedness for 40% of the amount owed or $292.91. If this matter remains unresolved, we will have no other alternative but
to evaluate your credit history and present financial circumstances, then proceed accordingly.
You now have an extremely important decision to make. If you are unable to pay in full or settle at the reduced rate, contact
our office today. You may qualify for our hardship program.

However, please be advised that your failure to respond will make it difficult for us to assist you in resolving this matter.

Time is of the essence. We genuinely hope that you resolve this obligation without the need for further collection activity.
Should you have any questions regarding this matter please call at the above referenced number.

Sincerely,
Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd.

Whenever $600.00 or more in principle of a debt is forgiven as a result of settling a debt for less than the balance owing, the
creditor may be required to report the amount of the debt forgiven to the Internal Revenue Service on a 1099C form, a copy of
which would be mailed to you by the creditor. If you are uncertain of the legal or tax consequences, we encourage you to
consult your legal or tax advisor.

IMPORTANT CONSUMER INFORMATION

This communication is from a debt collector. This is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be
used for that purpose.

Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd. 1002 Justison Street Wilmington, DE 19801 800-477-6441
1CSPCAL03592
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CERTIFICATION OF ARBITRATION ELIGIBILITY 

 
Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000, 

exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a 

certification to the contrary is filed. 

I,    Craig B. Sanders, counsel for Plaintiff , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is 

ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s): 

 monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs, 

 

 the complaint seeks injunctive relief, 
 

 the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason  

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1  

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks: 

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form) 

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a) 

provides that “A civil case is “related” to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or 

because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to 

the same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another c ivil case merely because 
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NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2) 
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2. If you answered “no” above: 

a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk 
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b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the 

Eastern District?        YES 

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or 

Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau 

or Suffolk County? _____________________  

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts). 

BAR ADMISSION 

I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court. 

    Yes     No 

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court? 

    Yes  (If yes, please explain)    No 

 

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above. 

Signature: /s Craig B. Sanders   
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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      Eastern District of New York

 
 

Andrew Bruno, individually and on behalf of all others 
similarly situated

 
 

Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd. 

Phillips & Cohen Associates, Ltd.

Craig B. Sanders, Esq. 
100 Garden City Suite 500 
Garden CIty, New York 11530



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Debt Collector Sued Over Alleged IRS Threat in Collection Letters

https://www.classaction.org/news/debt-collector-sued-over-alleged-irs-threat-in-collection-letters

	38. Defendant’s implication that the settlement may have tax consequences when viewed from the least sophisticated consumer’s perspective would affect the consumer’s decision concerning whether or not to accept Defendant’s settlement offer.
	a. Certify this action as a class action; and
	e. Grant Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; and



